Epsom & Ewell History & Archaeology
Society

NEWSLETTER

2019, ISSUE 4 September 2019

Chairmands Not es

Heritage Open Days this year runs from 13 0 22 September, the 25t anniversary of the
scheme and longer than usual. Although Epsom and Ewell is the smallest Borough in
Surrey as far as | can see there is only Nonsuch Mansion advertised as open in our area.
There are surely many more local buildings in the Borough that could be opened.

A note appears in this Newsletter on the test pitting in Bourne Hall carried out in May.
Thanks are due to the Council for supporting this work and also to Nikki Cowlard who
shouldered most of the organising. The day was very successful in involving local people
though slightly less so in revealing hard evidence of the expected Tudor buildings. As so
often in archaeology more questions are thrown up than answered. It is clear that further
work on the lawn area is warranted and we would hope to follow this up. It was also
useful as an introduction to the two day project, in Nonsuch Park, arranged for
September. Volunteers for this are required to book in advance in order to maximise the
time available.
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June Meeting & Merton Priory 8 John Hawks

Steve Nelson

John Hawks, of the Wandle Industrial Museum and a trustee of the Merton Priory Trust
came to talk to us on Merton Priory and particularly of the ruins of the Chapter House.
Merton is very much connected to the Ewell area as it lies on the old Roman Stane Street,
the priors of Merton owned large parts of the Ewell area in the Middle Ages, and much of the
stone for Nonsuch Palace came from the dissolved Priory buildings.

Merton Priory was founded in ¢ 1117 as a major Augustinian centre in England. It was a
huge building complex at the height of its power, with a nave the length of Westminster
Abbey, and with all the usual monastic buildings and precinct wall, spread over a large area.
This was altered and added to during its life of some 400 years until it was requisitioned by
Henry VIII in April 1538 at the Dissolution. Unlike many of the better known monasteries,
which were left simply to decay after their lead and other valuable items were removed,
Merton was earmarked as a source of buil di
Nonsuch Palace then being built only some 7km away in Ewell. Most of the principal
buildings of the Priory church were completely destroyed. Some of the peripheral structures
were apparently leased out by the Crown and enough remained for Parliamentarian troops

to be garrisoned there in the Civil War. However, most gradually disappeared, one of the
last being the so-called Abbey House which was demolished in 1914. Today only a
reconstructed gateway and some stretches of the precinct wall remain. The building
accounts for Nonsuch record some 3,000 cartloads of stone being trundled to the Palace site.
The ruins of the priory then became covered over and the site largely forgotten. In the C19
the area had become increasingly built over, particularly by the railway line and sidings and

the long gone Merton Abbey Station (the area having been commonly known as Merton
Abbey from the C17). The site was first investigated archaeologically by a Colonel Bidder, of

a well-known local family, in 1921 and he recorded the general layout of the principal
buildings, including much of the nave. Later, in the 1960s, Dennis Turner excavated a small
area to the south west of the Priory. Bi dd
Turnerds in 1967 ( Sy A83\Scolt MgCrackenTolfteerthen DGLALOD tlie6
Museum of London excavated more of the rest of the nave and Chapter House. When the
final proposals for | arge scale redevel opme
were under discussion the Museum of London undertook more extensive excavations in 1984
-88. This recorded virtually all of the plans of the main buildings and included over 700
monastic burials. The results of all this work have been published in the Museum of London
Monograph 34 in 2007.

The redevelopment of the Sainsbury SavaCentre and the accompanying new road was due to
remove what remained of the foundations. However, significant public pressure at the time
resulted in the road being raised to pass over the Chapter House remains, while much of the
northern nave and transept ruins were buried under the car park area, where they remain
for the future. To their credi't Sainsbury
remained far from satisfactory with the ruins in a dark, damp and rather dismal basement
under the A24 Meratun Way.
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Whol e Site Ph8tograph 1987
North side of church | ooking
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Chapter House

I n 2014 the Merton Priory Trust decided to
HLF grant of £500k which, with a planning gain fund of £300k, has paid for the first phase

of enhancement of the Chapter House, not without some legal wrangling over access to the
drains and electrical supply. This phase was completed last year and opened with a grand
reception with a performance of the 1570 op
how well the acoustics of the new space now sound. A comprehensive Conservation and
Management Plan was written for the site and the Abbey Mills buildings, and it is to this

plan that the Trust works. John Hawks outlined a further phase of restoration work that is
planned for the wider area. This will hopefully include a restoration of the Infirmary garden

said to be one of the most important monastic healing herb gardens in the medieval period.
The conservation of the various lengths of precinct wall is a continuing cause for concern,
although John said the Trust has been succ
National Trust, who own parts, to undertake some repairs.

John concluded his talk by showing a film made by the Trust in 2018 which showed very
graphically the history of and events associated with the Priory. Full information on the
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Trustodos wor k, i ncluding the explanatory fi
Tony Robinson and the Time Teamds excavati
William Morrisd silk and calico printing wo

The Chapter House is open to the public on Sundays from May to October between 11.00am
and 16.00pm with parking available nearby i

Edi tords Notes:

When | first lived nearby, the Merton Priory area was largely TR"AN G

car scrap yards, with the remains of the chapter house sitting ALL BRITISH TOYS

incongruously amongst them all, having previously been LOOK OUT FOR THESE TRADE MARKS
protected by the Merton Abbey Station building above. But
previously it had been the site of Line Brothers toy factory, in

1950 the largest in the world, employing over 4000 people. It : - Awa Tovs
produced Tri-ang model trains, Frog plastic model aircraft LT
and Pedigree dolls. In WW2 it had been a major ey X —_—
manufacturer of Sten submachine guns. But in 1971, despite aiaas v
still being the biggest toy maker in Britain, the company %
collapsed. The local story was that a workman had fashioned ;efs

a large triangle from bits of left over metal and hung it as a s

sign over the entrance, hence the name Tri -ang. The story on LINES BROS. LTD.
websites today is that the three sides of the triangle o e o R

represented the three Lines Brothers.

It was also the site of Eyre Smelting works. In the first few years after WW2 it scrapped
large numbers of British, American and German fighters that were no longer required, and
then many early British jet fighters. It closed some time after 1968.

| was a volunteer digger at Merton Priory in 1986. Initially | worked on uncovering the
north cloister walk. | was therefore rather surprised when the MoLAS report was published

in 2007 and made no mention of it. Il ndeed
was <cleared by machine but not excavated (
cloister walks was excavateddé (pl4da6). For
with greensand bl ocks about 90 square, set

| also excavated one of the crossing piers, and a curious burial in the south burial area (p45)
where the interior of the skull had been carefully packed with flints (but which no one else
seemed to be interested in). | dm gl ad t hou
there was something significant in all the stone chips in the area to the north -east of the
church (p46). Views differ as to whether they were from the construction or the destruction.

Incidentally, we received a copy of what was purported to be an 18 t century map showing
where the priory treasures had been buried
coincided exactly with where an electricity pylon now stands (by Pizza Hut), so if the
treasure ever had been there then it had been disturbed long ago.

SavaCentre was originally a joint venture b
Habitat Mothercare in 1986 to form Storehouse. The Colliers Wood SavaCentre opened in
1989, and just a few days | ater Sainsburyads

condition of the planning permission had been that sheltered accommodation and a
swimming pool be provided for local people; neither happened, and Merton council failed to
pursue the matter.
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Bourne Hall Test Pitting - Steve Nelson and Nikki Cowlard

Five archaeological test pits (TPs 1 -3, 5-6) were excavated on the lawn area in Bourne Hall,
Ewell during the course of an Open Day on 25 May 2019. This work was carried out in
accordance with a Project Design as part of the Surrey Archaeological Society Test Pitting
Programme (funded by a National Lottery Heritage Fund grant). This coincided with a
programme of Roman re -enactment displays arranged by Bourne Hall Museum and was
very successful in engaging with local people, both young and older, many of whom assisted
with the digging and processing. Although the work was programmed to be completed in the
day, in the event a further two days were needed to complete all the TPs and fully record the
results. Together with the preparation and arrangements for the day, it was recognised that

a significant amount of work was involved in ensuring the success of the project.

Children digging in TP 3 -enma cbtaccrksg rionu nfdo, 1

The central area of Ewell village has evidence of occupation from prehistoric to modern
times. In particular it is believed that the current lawn area is the site of the C16 mansion
of Nicholas Saunder. This assumption relies on the interpretation of the contemporary
Survey of Ewell in 1577 and the statement by Willis that the foundations were uncovered
between the C18 house and the lake in the early C20. In 2004 a chalk block foundation was
discovered by the southern of the two steps from the path, in front of Bourne Hall, to the
lawn. A resistivity survey carried out in April appeared to show differential areas of low and
high resistance.




